# RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-26-2016**

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT II**

Appeal No. 2015AP001824-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

BRUCE T. HENNINGFIELD,

Defendant-Appellant.

# DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RACINE COUNTY THE HONORABLE ALLAN B. TORHORST PRESIDING

Hans P. Koesser, State Bar #1010219

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Koesser Law Office, S.C. Post Office Box 941 Kenosha, Wisconsin 53141-0941 Telephone & Fax No.: (262) 654-4864

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1A. Was trial counsel ineffective for revealing to the jury during his opening statement that the defendant had prior drunken driving convictions, despite the fact that trial counsel had a stipulation from the state that those convictions would not be revealed to the jury?

Trial Court Answer:	No. Trial counsel not
	ineffective, but it is uncertain
	that the trial court understood
	the argument.

1B. Should the defendant be given a new trial in the interest of justice due to the fact that the jury was erroneously made

aware of the defendant's prior drunken driving convictions when that information should not have been given to them?

Trial Court Answer:	Not directly answered by trial
	court. The issue was
	presented to the trial court in
	the postconviction motion and
	at the postconviction hearing.

2. Did the defendant validly waive his right to a jury trial on the status element of the offense and was the trial court's colloquy with the defendant sufficient?

Trial Court Answer:	Not directly answered by the
	trial court. The issue was
	presented to the trial court in
	the postconviction motion and
	at the postconviction hearing.

3. Did the doctrine of issue preclusion estop the state from charging the defendant with anything greater than an OWI- $6^{th}$  because in the defendant's previous OWI case before the Racine County Circuit Court he was found to be only a fifth-time offender?

Trial Court Answer: Not answered by the trial court. The issue was presented to the trial court in the postconviction motion and at the postconviction hearing.

#### NECESSITY OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant does not request oral argument or publication. This case can be decided on the basis of the briefs and the record.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 23, 2012 a criminal complaint (R1) was filed in the Racine County Circuit Court charging the Defendant with (Count One) Operating While Intoxicated-10<sup>th</sup> and Subsequent Offence, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and (Count Two) Resisting an Officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1).

The complaint alleged that on January 22, 2012 at approximately 1:00 a.m., Officer Karasek of the Sturtevant Police Department was dispatched to the area of County Highway H and Durand Avenue in the Village of Sturtevant for a person stuck in a ditch. The caller indicated that that the driver of the vehicle was on the scene and was "staggering" around and believed he may be intoxicated. The caller was identified as Lillie J. Jones.

Upon arrival at the scene, the defendant told Officer Karasek that he had been driving the truck and lost control of the vehicle and slid into the ditch after someone had crossed the centerline which forced him off the road. Officer Karasek noticed that the defendant's eyes were very glassy and his speech was slurred, but the defendant denied drinking any intoxicated beverages. Officer Karasek asked the defendant to perform a horizontal gaze nystagmus test, but the defendant was unable to perform the test because he continually moved his head rather than following the pen with his eyes. The defendant also refused to try the walk and turn test or the one-leg stand, claiming he had a leg injury. (R1:2)

The complaint further alleged that the defendant was placed under arrest and placed in Officer Karasek's squad car. Officer Karasek left the squad for a short period of time and when he returned, he found the defendant passed out and lying down in the squad. He transported the defendant to the hospital. The defendant admitted to hospital staff that he had three drinks, but then denied that he had said that. While at the hospital, the defendant repeatedly called Officer Karasek a "fucking idiot" and repeatedly referred to other people present as "fucking idiots." At one point hospital staff performed a preliminary breath test on the defendant which showed a breath alcohol concentration of .20. (R1:2)

At some later point during his hospital stay, the defendant took out an item out of his pocket that he described as a "crumb scraper." Officer Karasek ordered the defendant to give him the item, but the defendant refused. At that point Officer Karasek grabbed the defendant's right arm while Officer Jaramillo grabbed his left arm. The defendant began to resist by tensing his arms and making it difficult to place his hands behind his back. The officers were eventually able to place the defendant's hands behind his back and secure them in handcuffs.

On February 9, 2012 the state filed an amended criminal complaint adding one count (Count Three) of Operating a Motor Vehicle With Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-10<sup>th</sup> and Subsequent, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). (R2)

On February 16, 2012 the defendant appeared before the Honorable Allan B. Torhorst for a preliminary examination. (R46) The court found probable cause and bound the defendant over for further proceedings. (R46:11) An information (R3) was filed containing the same charges as listed in the criminal complaint. The defendant was arraigned and he entered pleas of not guilty. (R46:11)

On May 14, 2012<sup>1</sup> a status hearing was held before Judge Gaskiorkiewicz. The court also inquired whether there had been any changes in the plea offer "since April" [2012]. (R48:2). Assistant District Attorney ("ADA") Newlun indicated "I did come down one year on the initial confinement on May 14 or 4-13." (R48:2)

The defense also requested a special hearing prior to the trial on the issue of the defendant's prior convictions. (R49:9) The court advised defense counsel that he was not prohibited from collaterally attacking those convictions. (R49:9) ADA Newlun noted that if necessary, the state would be required to prove each of the prior convictions to the jury. (R49:10) The court suggested that it might be better to work out a stipulation because "I have to tell you in the matters that I've tried where there's a large number of prior convictions, most defendants do not want that number before the jury, and there is an agreement made prior to that time to avoid that problem." (R49:10-11) Defense counsel noted that the defendant's last DWI conviction occurred in June 2011 where the defendant was found guilty of only a "misdemeanor fifth plus." (R49:11)<sup>2</sup>

On September 17, 2012 a final pretrial was held before the Honorable Allan B. Torhorst. (R50). The state indicated it would be filing a motion *in limine* and proposed jury instructions. Defense counsel indicated that there would be a stipulation between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The transcript of the proceeding erroneously lists the date of the proceeding as occurring on May 14, 2013. The record (R48) contains the accurate date of May 14, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> One of the defendant's arguments on this appeal is that the state was collaterally estopped from charging him with more than an OWI-6<sup>th</sup> because in the OWI case in Racine County (Racine County Circuit Court Case No. 96CT48) immediately preceding the instant case, a Racine County Circuit Court Judge found that he had only five prior offenses. Additional facts relevant to this issue will be discussed below and in the Argument section of this brief.

parties as to the legality of the blood draw and the test results. (R50:2) See Appendix at A11.

On September 24, 2012 a status hearing was held before Judge Torhorst. (R51) Defense counsel indicated that the defense would agree to at least three prior OWI related convictions. (R51:4) ADA Newlun noted that by stipulating to the three priors, the defendant would be relieved of having that information presented to the jury. However, by stipulating to them, the defendant would be relieving the state of proving one of the elements. ADA Newlun advised the court that a colloquy with the defendant would be necessary. (R51:4-5) Defense counsel indicated that as a strategic matter, the defendant would stipulate to the three priors for purposes of trial, but reserved the right to challenge any and all priors at the time of sentencing. (R51:6) The court then proceeded to engage the defendant in a personal colloquy<sup>3</sup> concerning the defendant's stipulation to an element of the offense and relieving the state from proving that element. (R51:7-12)

On September 25, 2012 a hearing was held before Judge Torhorst. (R52) The state filed an amended information (R4) adding the third count contained in the amended complaint-Operating a Motor Vehicle With Prohibited Alcohol Condsentration-10<sup>th</sup> and Subsequent. (R52;8). The defendant entered a plea of not guilty. (R52:9)

On December 18, 2012 the parties appeared before Judge Torhorst for the jury trial. (R53). The parties then advised the court that an additional stipulation concerning the number of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> One of the issues on this appeal is whether the colloquy was adequate. The defendant asserts that it was not. Additional facts concerning this issue will be discussed in the Argument section of this brief.

defendant's prior convictions for general impeachment would be needed should the defendant choose to testify. (R53:3-4) The court then considered ADA Newlun's recitation of twenty prior criminal convictions. (R53:4-6) Defense counsel argued that the court should follow the "federal 10-year rule" (R53:5) and only count convictions going back to the year 2000. (R53:7) If that standard applied, the defendant would only have seven prior convictions. (R53:7) The court adopted a hybrid approach, following the defense suggestion by only going back to the year 2000, but adopting the state's methodology of counting the priors. The court concluded that the appropriate number of priors for general impeachment would be 19. (R53:5-9)

On December 19, 2012, the case was tried to a jury. The defendant testified on his own behalf. He indicated that he got off work at the Olive Garden in Racine at approximately 11:00 p.m. (R54:141) and proceeded to drive home. When he approached the intersection of Durand Avenue and Highway H, he attempted to turn left (southbound) onto Highway H. He explained the accident as follows:

I know it as Highway H southbound. I was turning left and I tried to kind of slant in, not taking a real sharp turn. There was a car coming up H though that was turning left and kind of nosed up far, and so I kind of went around him. At that point my rear end slid out, at which time the rear end slid into the ditch. I made a decision then to punch it to give it gas hoping that my momentum and the power of wheels would pull me out. Unfortunately, there's a bit of a drop-off, and one of the front tires was already down off the roadway and it just wouldn't come back up, and so I went to try to accelerate out and went at an angle with the road and then hit the 55 mile an hour speed limit sign. (R54:141)

The defendant testified that this occurred at approximately 11:10 p.m. and that at the time this happened, he had not been drinking and he was sober. (R54:141-42)

He was beginning to get cold so he left his truck and walked east on Durand Avenue to the Hiawatha Ballroom. (R54:142-43) He ordered a Miller Lite. (R54:144). The defendant testified that sitting to his right at the bar were six patrons that he waited on at the Olive Garden – a couple he knew and their family, and they were there celebrating the mother's birthday. (R54:145) Although these people did not know the defendant by name, he knew they recognized him. The defendant testified that he explained to both the bartender and the patrons on his right that he had just slid into a ditch on his way home from the Olive Garden, and that he had walked to the Hiawatha. (R54:145)

The defendant indicated that the patrons on his right began buying shots of Goldschläger, a 100 proof liquor, and that he consumed "probably a good eight ounces total of that. Maybe five shots that are an ounce and two thirds or so full of alcohol." (R54:146)

The defendant testified that he was concerned about getting home at that point and explained his situation to two gentlemen at the bar. One of the men offered to give him a ride home, but the man was not ready to leave. (R54:146) After much rumination, the defendant decided to walk back to his truck and retrieve his cell phone and other items. (R54:146). At approximately 1:00 a.m., the defendant began walking back to his truck and as he approached the intersection, he noticed a car parked in the roadway next to his truck. (R54:147) The defendant testified that he met up with a man and a woman. The man offered assistance. The defendant indicated to the man that if he were willing to give him a ride home, he would accept that assistance. (R54:147) The defendant indicated that the man was "a very large, strong, young man and he thought he could push it out, but it was –with the flat tire there was no way it would come out of there, so I declined his offer to push it out." (R54:148) The defendant indicated that he did not have his keys at the time because he had left them at the bar with the two gentlemen who offered to assist him. (R54:148).

The jury ultimately returned verdicts of guilty on all counts. (R54:215-16). The defendant moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, which the court denied. (R54:218)

On January 8, 2013 a hearing was held before Judge Torhorst on the defense counsel's motion to withdraw from representation. (R55) The motion was denied. (R55:6) The court indicated that if the defense wished to collaterally attack any of the defendant's prior convictions the defense could file a motion prior to sentencing. (R55:6-7)

On March 4, 2013 a motion and sentencing hearing was held before Judge Torhorst. (R57) The court considered the defendant's collateral attack on some of his prior convictions. (R57:1-16) The court heard arguments from the parties concerning an appropriate sentence. (R54:16-22) The defendant also addressed the court. (R57:22-26) The court then sentenced the defendant to the absolute maximum sentence of 12 years and 6 months to the Wisconsin State Prisons (Count One). On Count Two - - Resisting, the court imposed the maximum penalty of 9 months, but ordered that to run concurrent to his prison sentence. See Judgment of Conviction. (R34,R35)

Thereafter the defendant filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief (R38). The court held a hearing on the defendant's motion on August 20, 2015. On August 25, 2015 the trial court entered a written decision denying the defendant's motion. (R42)(See Appendix at A1-A7). On September 2, 2015 the defendant filed a Notice of Appeal from his judgment of conviction and from the decision denying his postconviction motion. (R43). The evidence and testimony developed at the postconviction hearing and the court's findings will be discussed below in connection with each issue.

#### ARGUMENT

I. HENNINGFIELD IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE JURY WAS MADE AWARE OF THE FACT THAT HENNINGFIELD HAD PRIOR CONVICTIONS FOR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE INTOXICATED ONLY BECAUSE OF THE IMPROVIDENT REMARKS OF HIS OWN ATTORNEY DURING OPENING STATEMENTS

In *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997), the defendant was charged with a Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration of 0.08 or greater, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b) (1993-94).<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 633 I, 640-41. That offense had three elements: (1) that the defendant drove or operated a motor vehicle on a highway; (2) that at the time the defendant had two or more prior convictions, suspensions, or revocations under Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1); and (3) that the defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Alexander was charged under the 1993-94 version of the Wisconsin Statutes. See *Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 633, fn.1

had a prohibited alcohol concentration at the time he operated the vehicle. *Id.* at 640. Under Wisconsin law at that time, if a defendant had only one or no prior convictions, suspensions, or revocations, the prohibited alcohol concentration was 0.10 or more of alcohol in 210 liters of the person's breath, or 0.10 percent or more by weight of alcohol in the person's blood. *Id.* at 640-41.

Prior to the pretrial conference, Alexander's attorney filed a motion in which the defendant offered to stipulate that his driving record correctly sets forth that he had two prior OWI convictions. *Id.* at 637. With this offer to stipulate the defendant also filed a motion *in limine* requesting that the court order the state to refrain from introducing any evidence regarding the defendant's prior OWI convictions. Alexander also moved to modify the substantive jury instructions. *Id.* The thrust of the defendant's proposals was to eliminate the element regarding his prior convictions as a matter for the jury to determine at trial, and to have this element considered only by the court at sentencing. *Id.* The state agreed to stipulate to the existence of the defendant's prior OWI convictions, but refused to waive that portion of the jury trial which would be relevant to making a finding on that element. *Id.* 

The trial court denied Alexander's motion and concluded that the state was required to stipulate to the fact that the defendant has two prior convictions, suspensions, etc., under Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1), but that the state could not be forced to waive any portion of the jury trial. *Id.* at 637-38. After the judge's ruling, the parties agreed to the judge's proposed jury instruction regarding their stipulation to the prior convictions. They stipulated to the following facts: Evidence has been received that the defendant has two or more convictions, suspensions or revocations as counted under section 343.307(1) of the statutes. This evidence is received solely because it bears upon the second element that the State must prove for the offense of driving with a prohibited alcohol concentration. It must not be used for any other purpose and, particularly, you should bear in mind that conviction, suspension or revocation as counted under section 343.307(1) at some previous time is not proof of the guilt of the offense now charged.

Id. at 638.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated that the issue presented by the case was whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it admitted evidence of the element of two or more prior convictions, suspensions or revocations under Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1) and submitted the element to the jury when the defendant fully admitted to the element and the purpose of the evidence was solely to prove that element. *Id.* at 639-40. The court held:

Accordingly, we hold that when the sole purpose of introducing any evidence of a defendant's prior convictions, suspensions, or revocations under Wis. Stat. § 343.307 is to prove the status element and the defendant admits to that element, its probative value is far outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. We hold that admitting any evidence of the defendant's prior convictions, suspensions or revocations and submitting the status element to the jury in this case was an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Id. at 651.

The Supreme Court explained that in cases where a defendant is charged with driving with a prohibited alcohol concentration and the jury is informed that the defendant has prior convictions, suspensions or revocations, it is highly probable that the jury will infer that the prior offenses are driving offenses and likely OWI offenses. *State v. Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 644, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997):

Evidence of prior convictions may lead a jury to convict a defendant for crimes other than the charges crime, convict because a bad person deserves punishment rather than based on the evidence presented, or convict thinking that an erroneous conviction is not so serious because the defendant already has a criminal record.

*Id.* at 643. See also *State v. Verhagen*, 2013 WI App 16, ¶ 33, 346 Wis. 2d 196, 215, 827 N.W.2d 891.

The *Alexander* court concluded that where a jury is informed that a defendant has two or more prior convictions, suspensions, or revocations, "it is highly probable that the jury will infer that the prior offenses are driving offenses and likely OWI offenses." *Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 644; *Verhagen*, 346 Wis. 2d at 215-16. In turn, this evidence would raise the inference that the defendant "has a bad character and a propensity to drink and drive. . ." *Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 650; *Verhagen*, 346 Wis. 2d at 216.

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