RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-15-2016

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP1824-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRUCE T. HENNINGFIELD,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RACINE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ALLAN B. TORHORST, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

WARREN D. WEINSTEIN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013263

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Henningfield's tale of drinking heavily only after sliding into the ditch is also not very credible, however. His testimony directly contradicted both Lilly Jones and Officer Karasek and it was also internally contradictory. Jones testified that when she arrived on the scene she observed one person whom she assumed was the driver, outside of the truck. (54:106.) Henningfield testified that before he got to his truck, he noticed the Jones car stopped in the northbound lane of the roadway even with his truck. (54:147.) Jones testified that Pierce pushed the truck while Henningfield tried to drive the truck out of the ditch. (54:107.) Henningfield testified that he declined Pierce's offer to push the truck out of the ditch. (54:148.) But on cross-examination, he testified that Pierce did try to push the truck out of the ditch. (54:160.)

Officer Karasek testified that when police investigated the scene, they found a second sign had been struck on the median at the intersection of County H and Durand Avenue. (54:75, 77.) Henningfield denied hitting that second sign. (54:148-49.) Officer Karasek testified the front of Henningfield's truck had been damaged. (54:74.) In addition to denying he hit the sign at the intersection, Henningfield

testified he hit the 55 m.p.h. speed limit sign when his truck was at an angle to County H. (54:141.) That would have produced damage on the side of his truck, not the front. Officer Karasek followed the tire tracks. (54:74.) He testified the tracks came from the other side of Durand Avenue, going straight in a southerly direction, proceeded to strike a sign on the intersection median, then went down into the ditch where Henningfield's truck came to rest after hitting the speed limit sign. (54:77, 170.) Henningfield denied traveling in a southerly direction north of Durand Avenue. (54:139.) Officer Karasek testified a vehicle turning left off of Durand Avenue could not have left the tracks he found. (54:170.)

Henningfield's testimony own contains internal contradictions. He testified he told Officer Karasek he had just gotten off work. (54:149.) Yet he also testified he left work at 11:05 p.m. and he admitted he told officer Karasek he had just gotten off work. (54:137, 146.) He also agreed that was not truthful. (54:149.) As noted, he testified that he declined Pierce's offer of help but then admitted Pierce tried to push the truck back onto the road. (54:148, 160.) Henningfield, on cross-examination, testified that Pierce did try to push the truck out of the ditch. (54:160.) He claimed when he slid off the road, his cell phone "launched between the passenger seat and the console and I was unable to get it out at that time." (54:143.) But he also testified he was in the truck looking for his cell phone at the time Pierce tried to push the truck back onto the road. (54:160.)

Perhaps most telling were his various explanations and excuses for not telling Officer Karasek his story that he had been drinking at the Hiawatha Ballroom between the time he slid into the ditch and his return to the scene. When the prosecutor first asked him whether he had told Officer Karasek, he claimed he "never got a chance." (54:152.) But after Officer Karasek asked how the accident happened, he

asked Henningfield if he had been drinking. Henningfield said he had not. (54:71, 149.) That was Henningfield's first opportunity to tell the officer his intoxication occurred after the accident. When Officer Karasek attempted to administer field sobriety tests, Henningfield told him he had an injured (54:73, 150.) That was Henningfield's opportunity to tell the officer his story. Then, after Officer Karasek arrested him, according to Henningfield, he told the officer "but I wasn't drinking" without any mention of the Hiawatha Ballroom. (54:150.) That was Henningfield's third opportunity to tell the officer his story. Then, at the hospital, Officer Karasek asked Henningfield if he consented to a blood draw. (54:78.) Henningfield again claimed he had not been drinking. (54:78.) That was Henningfield's fourth opportunity to tell the officer his story. Henningfield also told Officer Karasek nothing would be found in the blood sample the hospital personnel had taken. (54:79.) Yet another opportunity to tell his story. Finally, at the hospital, he "blurted out to hospital staff that he had only had three drinks." (54:79.) Another opportunity. When Officer Karasek confronted Henningfield with his statement, he denied making it. (54:79.) But he testified on direct examination that he had been drinking that night. (54:151.)

Henningfield testified on his own behalf and admitted to 19 convictions. (54:140-41.) By stipulating to the blood test, he did not contest that his blood-alcohol concentration was 0.278. (18.) Henningfield contested only the fact that he drove or operated his truck while having a 0.278 blood alcohol content (BAC). There is simply no good reason for this Court to conclude that the trial in this case was unreliable.

B. Henningfield is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice.

As part of his ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, Henningfield argues he is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. As applied to alleged omissions of defense counsel where a claim of ineffective-assistance-of-counsel will lie, the "real controversy" alternative of the interest of justice test permits an appellant to circumvent the prejudice requirement of Strickland, rendering Strickland a nullity. Cf. State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 49 n.5, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994) (Wis. Stat. § 752.35 "was not intended to vest [the court of appeals] with power of discretionary reversal to enable a defendant to present an alternative defense' that may have not been advanced by trial counsel at the first trial whose representation is alleged to be ineffective because of that failure") (quoted source omitted). The "real controversy" approach is not designed and should not be used to supplant pure claims of ineffective-assistanceof-counsel. The prejudice component of Strickland already embodies the concerns of the "real controversy" standard by focusing on whether the alleged deficiency of counsel "render[ed] the result of the trial unreliable or the proceeding fundamentally unfair." Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 372 (1993).

This Court has authority to reverse in the interest of justice. Wis. Stat. § 752.35. "[A] new trial may be ordered on either of two grounds: (1) whenever the real controversy has not been fully tried or (2) whenever it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." *See State v. Maloney*, 2006 WI 15, ¶ 14 n.4, 288 Wis. 2d 551, 709 N.W.2d 436 (citation omitted).

Under the first prong of the "interest of justice" analysis, the real controversy has not been tried when the

jury was erroneously not given the opportunity to hear important testimony that bore on an important issue of the case, or when the jury had before it evidence not properly admitted which so clouded a crucial issue that it may be fairly said that the real controversy was not fully tried. *State v. Hicks*, 202 Wis. 2d 150, 160, 549 N.W.2d 435 (1996).

In order to grant a discretionary reversal because it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried, the second prong, there must be a substantial probability of a different result on retrial. State v. Schumacher, 144 Wis. 2d 388, 401, 424 N.W.2d 672 (1988), citing State v. Wyss, 124 Wis. 2d 681, 741, 370 N.W.2d 745 (1985). See also State v. D'Acquisto, 124 Wis. 2d 758, 765, 370 N.W.2d 781 (1985), quoting Lock v. State, 31 Wis. 2d 110, 118, 142 N.W.2d 183 (1966). As such, the defendant must meet a higher threshold in order for this Court to grant a new trial under the second prong. Maloney, 288 Wis. 2d 551, ¶ 14 n.4.

The discretionary authority under either aspect of Wis. Stat. § 752.35 to order a new trial in the interest of justice is. the case law cautions, a power to be used only "infrequently and judiciously." State v. Ray, 166 Wis. 2d 855, 874, 481 N.W.2d 288 (Ct. App. 1992). The "court[s] approach[] a request for a new trial with great caution. We are reluctant to grant a new trial in the interest of justice, and thus we exercise our discretion only in exceptional cases." State v. Armstrong, 2005 WI 119, ¶ 114, 283 Wis. 2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98 (quoting Morden v. Continental AG, 2000 WI 51, ¶ 87, 235 Wis. 2d 325, 611 N.W.2d 659). The Wisconsin Supreme Court reiterated that the discretionary reversal power should be used "only in exceptional cases." State v. McKellips, 2016 WI 51, ¶ 52, Wis. 2d , N.W.2d (emphasis the court's). The power may be exercised "only after all other claims are weighed and determined to be unsuccessful" and the court must "engage in an analysis

setting forth the reasons that the case may be characterized as exceptional." *Id.* (emphasis the court's) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The only issue in Henningfield's trial was whether he got drunk before or after he drove. That issue was fully tried. This is not an exceptional case.

II. Henningfield is not entitled to a new trial based on an involuntary jury waiver.

A. Stipulating to three or more prior countable convictions in a PAC case does not implicate the waiver of a jury trial.

Henningfield next argues he is entitled to a new trial because the circuit court's colloquy with him concerning his stipulation that he had three or more prior convictions was inadequate to waive his right to a jury determination on the status element of PAC.

Wisconsin Stat. § 972.02 establishes the procedure for a criminal defendant to waive his right to a jury trial. Section 972.02(1) states:

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, criminal cases shall be tried by a jury selected as prescribed in s. 805.08, unless the defendant waives a jury in writing or by statement in open court or under s. 967.08(2)(b), on the record, with the approval of the court and the consent of the state.

See also State v. Anderson, 2002 WI 7, ¶ 10, 249 Wis. 2d 586, 638 N.W.2d 301.

In *Anderson*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court set forth the requirements for a jury waiver.

The waiver cannot be based on circumstantial evidence or reasonable inferences. The defendant, not his attorney, must waive the right to a jury trial by an affirmative act of the defendant himself. Furthermore, the court must advise the defendant of the unanimity requirement, such that the court cannot accept a jury verdict that is not agreed to by each member of the jury. Finally, this court has stated that [t]he right to a trial by jury is one of the rights that is 'so fundamental to the concept of fair impartial decision making, relinguishment must meet the standard set forth in Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). Accordingly, a jury trial waiver intentional relinguishment must abandonment of a known right or privilege.

Id. ¶ 11. The procedure for determining whether a defendant validly waives a jury trial is the same as the procedure for determining whether a defendant has entered a voluntary plea. Id. ¶ 24. That procedure is set forth in State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). The waiver of one element requires the same procedure as a full jury waiver. State v. Warbelton, 2009 WI 6, ¶ 59, 315 Wis. 2d 253, 759 N.W.2d 557.

In *Warbelton*, the defendant was charged with stalking, one element of which was that he had been convicted of a violent crime. *Id.* ¶ 1. The defendant offered to stipulate to the fact that he had been convicted of a violent crime, and attempted to partially waive his right to a jury trial on that element. *Id.* ¶ 49. The trial court accepted his stipulation, and entered it into evidence. *Id.* ¶ 54. The trial court told the jury "that Warbelton had been convicted of a violent crime, and that the stipulation was conclusive proof." The supreme court concluded that this was the proper procedure for an agreed upon fact, under *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172 (1997), and *State v. McAllister*, 153 Wis.

2d 523, 451 N.W.2d 764 (Ct. App. 1989). Warbelton, 315 Wis. 2d 253, ¶ 54.

Warbelton also "asked the court to grant his request to waive a jury determination of the element." Id. ¶ 55. The State did not consent to the waiver. Id. The supreme court determined that Warbelton could not waive a jury determination of that element, because the State did not consent to the waiver. Warbelton, 315 Wis. 2d 253, ¶¶ 56-57.

State v. Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 652, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997), addressed the waiver of the status element of driving with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration. Like, Henningfield, Alexander had stipulated he had sufficient prior convictions to lower the PAC then in effect. Nevertheless, the circuit court allowed the introduction of evidence of two or more prior convictions and submitted that element to the jury. Id. at 634. Alexander advanced two arguments on appeal: the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by admitting any evidence regarding his prior convictions, and the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by submitting the element that the defendant has two or more prior convictions to the jury. Id. at 639. The State argued that not submitting the element to the jury was, in effect, a partial jury waiver which required the State's consent. Id. at 645. The court determined that Alexander's stipulation merely "dispense[d] with the need for proof of the status element, either to a jury or to a judge. Accordingly, this is not an issue of partial jury waiver. . . ." *Id.* at 646.

This Court reached a similar conclusion in *State v. Benoit*, 229 Wis. 2d 630, 600 N.W.2d 193 (Ct. App. 1999). There, in a burglary trial, Benoit stipulated to non-consent. *Id.* at 634. The circuit court submitted the standard instruction to the jury informing them they must find

non-consent beyond a reasonable doubt. The circuit court also informed the jury Benoit had stipulated to the owner's non-consent. *Id.* at 634-35. This Court held the right to a jury trial was not implicated when "(1) the jury is instructed on the element and (2) the court does not resolve the issue on its own." Since, in this case, the circuit court submitted the PAC element to the jury, as Alexander instructs it to do, there was no waiver of a jury trial.

This result is further compelled by the fact that a waiver of a jury trial, even as to one element, requires the consent of the State as noted above. *Warbelton*, 315 Wis. 2d 253, ¶ 59. Thus, if, as Henningfield argues, his right to a jury trial requires a full colloquy, it also requires the State's acquiescence. The State could, therefore, force proof of prior countable convictions in every PAC third or greater case by refusing to consent to the waiver.

The colloquy here was adequate to stipulate to three or more prior countable convictions. Henningfield is not entitled to a new trial on this claim.

B. Any error in the colloquy was harmless.

Any error in the waiver is also harmless. An error is harmless if "it [is] clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999); *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 46, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189; *State v. Eison*, 2011 WI App 52, ¶ 11, 332 Wis. 2d 331, 797 N.W.2d 890.

The claimed error in this case went only to the charge of driving with a prohibited blood-alcohol concentration. See *State v. McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982) (holding the number of a defendant's prior countable OWI

convictions is *not* an element of OWI). Wisconsin Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) provides that a person may be charged and the prosecution may proceed on both OWI and PAC. However, if the person is found guilty of both charges for acts arising out of the same occurrence, there may be only a single conviction. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c). Henningfield was convicted only of OWI. (35.) The number of convictions is not an element of OWI. Any error in the circuit court's colloquy regarding three or more prior countable convictions was, therefore, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. The doctrine of issue preclusion does not apply to the penalty scheme of Wis. Stat. § 346.65.

Lastly, Henningfield argues that the doctrine of issue preclusion bars the State from convicting him of OWI tenth. Henningfield notes he pled to and was convicted of OWI fifth immediately preceding this current prosecution. Based on that conviction, Henningfield argues that issue preclusion operates to bar the State from prosecuting him for OWI tenth.

A. The statutory sentencing scheme for OWI convictions precludes issue preclusion.

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